RECEIVED

Nov 05 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

ON PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appellate (Court of Appeals) Case No. 2018-000436

Deutsche Bank National Trust Company, as Trustee for NovaStar Mortgage Funding Trust, Series 2007-1 NovaStar Equity Loan Asset Backed Certificates, Series 2007-1,.....Respondent,

v.

The Estate of Patricia Ann Owens Houck; Tammy M. Bailey; South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles, Defendants,

Of whom the Estate of Patricia Ann Owens Houck and Tammy M. Bailey are the.....Petitioners.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

Andrew S. Radeker
S.C. Bar No. 73743

INTRODUCTION

This petition asks this Court to issue a writ of certiorari to review the Court of Appeals' published opinion in Deutsche Bank National Trust Company v. Estate of Houck, Op. No. 5844 (S.C. Ct. App. filed August 11, 2021) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 27 at 86). The Court of Appeals' opinion contravenes this Court's precedent – and logical, common-sense principles – concerning res judicata and compulsory counterclaims. In its opinion, the Court of Appeals has carved out, for a special class of mostly moneyed litigants, a special, unwarranted exception to generally applicable law – an exception that contravenes both the Rules of Civil Procedure and settled principles this Court has already firmly established. If this Court does not grant certiorari and reverse, the Court of Appeals' opinion in this case will have made an unfair double standard part of the law of this state.

CERTIFICATE OF COUNSEL

The Court of Appeals issued its opinion in this case on August 11, 2021. Counsel for the Petitioners certifies that the petition for rehearing was served and filed on August 26, 2021. The petition for rehearing was finally ruled on by the Court of Appeals by an order filed on October 6, 2021. This petition for a writ of certiorari is timely served and filed.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1) Did the Court of Appeals err in reversing the grant of summary judgment to Petitioners on Respondent's foreclosure claim?

2) Did the Court of Appeals err in failing to reverse the master-in-equity's decision to create a mechanism for Respondent to avoid liability under S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-320, even though the master found all elements mandating such liability had been proven as a matter of law?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case was brought before Court of Appeals as a cross-appeal from an order by the Honorable James O. Spence that:

- 1) Granted the Petitioners (hereinafter "Bailey and Owens") summary judgment against the Respondent (hereinafter "Deutsche Bank") on Deutsche Bank's mortgage foreclosure claim (and its reformation claim); and,
- 2) While deciding that the elements were all met of mandatory liability on Bailey and Owens' counterclaim under S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-310 and -320 for failure to record a mortgage satisfaction document, allowed Deutsche Bank to escape financial consequences for that liability if it recorded a satisfaction within a certain time frame.

Deutsche Bank filed this lawsuit on October 19, 2016, against Bailey and Owens, seeking foreclosure of a mortgage and seeking reformation of that mortgage. (R. pp. 76-98.) Bailey and Owens answered and counterclaimed. (R. pp. 99-115.) Bailey and Owens asserted the defenses of res judicata, collateral estoppel, laches, unclean hands, waiver, and setoff or credit. (R. pp. 107-09.) Bailey and Owens also asserted counterclaims for a declaratory judgment that Deutsche Bank holds no mortgage on the subject property or, in the alternative, that the mortgage is

unenforceable, for liability under S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-320 for failure to record satisfaction of the mortgage after due request, and for violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-102 (usually referred to as the attorney preference statute.) (R. pp. 109-10.) The case was referred to the Honorable James O. Spence, as Master-in-Equity for Lexington County. (R. pp. 51-52.)

Deutsche Bank moved for summary judgment in its favor as to each of Bailey and Owens' counterclaims. (R. pp. 165-69.) Bailey and Owens moved for 1) summary judgment in their favor as to Deutsche Bank's claim for foreclosure, 2) summary judgment in their favor as to their counterclaim seeking a declaratory judgment, and 3) summary judgment on liability in their favor as to their counterclaim under S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-320 for failure to enter satisfaction of the mortgage. (R. pp. 124-25.)

The master denied Deutsche Bank's motion for summary judgment and granted Bailey and Owens' motion, ruling that, under the undisputed facts, Deutsche Bank's foreclosure claim was a compulsory counterclaim in the previously concluded case of Tammy M. Bailey, et al. v. Novastar Mortgage, Inc., et al., Case No. 2013-CP-32-02210, in which Deutsche Bank was a defendant, because, if Bailey and Owens had prevailed in that case, that could have resulted in a judgment that the note and mortgage were unenforceable under S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-105(C). (R. pp. 23, 27.) The master ruled that the res judicata effect of the end of the Bailey v. Novastar case precluded the foreclosure claim and satisfied the mortgage by operation of law. (R. pp. 23, 27, 33-34, 36-37.) The master also granted summary judgment in Bailey and Owens' favor as to liability under S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-320 for Deutsche Bank's failure to record a satisfaction document within three months of a duly made request for the same under

S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-310. (R. pp. 36-37.) The master, however, provided Deutsche Bank a mechanism under which it could escape monetary liability under S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-320 by recording a mortgage satisfaction document within a time frame set by the master. (R. pp. 36-37.) The allowance of that escape from liability was the subject of Bailey and Owens’ appeal to the Court of Appeals.

The note and mortgage involved in this case were dated June 15, 1998, and were given by Owens, who was then the owner of the subject property, to NovaStar Mortgage, Inc. (R. pp. 80-81, 246-53.) The note document contained a balloon provision under which, even if all the monthly payments under the note were made timely and made in their required amounts, a substantial principal balance came due on July 1, 2013, the note’s maturity date. (R. p. 246.) The mortgage was recorded on July 2, 1998, in the office of the Lexington County Register of Deeds, and assignments were recorded noting the transfer of the note and mortgage to Deutsche Bank. (R. p. 81.)

Bailey is Owens’ daughter and the grantee of a deed of the subject property from her mother through a deed executed and recorded after the subject mortgage. (R. p. 3.)

The note matured on July 1, 2013, and, as Bailey and Owens admitted, Deutsche Bank’s complaint alleged that “[t]he installments of principal and interest falling due from and after July 1, 2013 have not been paid although demand for payment thereof has been made.” (R. pp. 4, 82.) Deutsche Bank admitted the allegations of Bailey and Owens’ counterclaim for liability under S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-320 for failure to record a satisfaction of the mortgage after request, except Deutsche Bank denied that the mortgage had been satisfied.

The parties agreed, and public records show, that the Bailey v. Novastar action occurred, that Deutsche Bank was a defendant in that case, and that the case was tried to a final judgment in favor of Deutsche Bank and the other defendants in that case. (R. p. 6, p. 185 ln. 9-23, pp. 370-525.)

The Bailey v. Novastar case was filed on June 27, 2013. (R. pp. 377-96.) In that case, Bailey and Owens asserted various claims against Deutsche Bank, most of which arose from the execution of the subject note and mortgage and the circumstances surrounding that. (R. pp. 7, 380-96.) Among the claims asserted in Bailey v. Novastar was a claim that sounded under S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-105(C) against NovaStar and Deutsche Bank (as NovaStar's assignee) for violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-102 (commonly referred to as the attorney preference statute, under which a mortgage lender is required to ascertain a borrower's preference as to the legal counsel she desires to represent her in the mortgage loan closing) coupled with unconscionable loan terms or inducement of the mortgage loan by unconscionable conduct. (R. pp. 380-84.) Bailey and Owens' contention concerning the claims was that NovaStar did not ascertain Owens' preference as to legal counsel and allowed the loan to be closed without attorney supervision, and, as a result, that the balloon aspect of the note was kept hidden from Owens when she signed the signature page of the note document. (R. pp. 381-84.)

Among the relief provided for in S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-105(C) is for a court to "refuse to enforce the agreement, or a term, or part of the agreement or transaction that the court determines to have been unconscionable at the time it was made." S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-105(C). The prayer in the Bailey v. Novastar complaint stated that

Bailey and Owens sought, *inter alia*, “all relief available under S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-105(C)[.]” (R. p. 387.)

Deutsche Bank served its answer in the Bailey v. Novastar case on September 26, 2013. (R. pp. 6, 397-406.) In a filing made in Bailey v. Novastar, Deutsche Bank stated that Bailey and Owens’ claims in that case “ar[ose] out of a purported mortgage refinancing loan transaction involving a balloon note in 1998 by Plaintiff Owens” and “relate solely to [that] closing[.]” (R. pp. 409, 411, 418.) At no time did Deutsche Bank assert a counterclaim for foreclosure in the Bailey v. Novastar action, despite the fact that the subject note had matured at the time Deutsche Bank served its answer. (R. pp. 8, 246, 397-406.)

Bailey v. Novastar was tried to a jury and resulted in a verdict for Deutsche Bank and the other defendants on September 15, 2015. (R. pp. 370-71.) Bailey and Owens’ motion for a new trial in that case was denied by order filed June 24, 2016. (R. p. 374.) No appeal was taken in that case.

In the instant case that is subject of this appeal, the master analyzed the history and meaning of the law of res judicata in South Carolina in some depth, concluding that the failure of Deutsche Bank to raise its foreclosure claim in Bailey v. Novastar resulted in the final judgment in that case having res judicata effect on that claim. (R. pp. 27, 33-34.)

On cross-appeals, the Court of Appeals reversed the grant of summary judgment, ruling in Deutsche Bank’s favor, and remanded the case. Bailey and Owens petitioned for rehearing or rehearing *en banc*, and that petition was denied.

This petition for certiorari followed.

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals' opinion departs from existing law and creates an anti-consumer, pro-financial institution double standard in the law of compulsory counterclaims and res judicata. The heart of the Court of Appeals' opinion is contained in the following excerpt:

We acknowledge DAV Corp.; BADD, L.L.C.; and Salon Proz, LLC all held that a claim is compulsory in a foreclosure action when, if the allegation were true, it could affect the enforceability of the loan. However, this case differs from the foregoing cases because here the prior action was not a foreclosure action.

I. The opinion finds the foreclosure claim was permissive in the 2013 action for reasons that contradict existing precedent.

“Rules of procedure, like statutes, should be given their plain meaning.” Beach Co. v. Twillman, Ltd., 351 S.C. 56, 61, 566 S.E.2d 863 (Ct. App. 2002). The language of Rule 13(a) mandates that “[a] pleading shall state as a counterclaim any claim which at the time of serving the pleading the pleader has against any opposing party, if it arises out of the transaction or occurrence that is the subject matter of the opposing party’s claim[.]” Rule 13(a)’s purpose is “to prevent multiplicity of actions and to achieve resolution in a single lawsuit of all disputes arising out of common matters.” Beach Co., 351 S.C. at 62.

The South Carolina Reporter’s Note following Rule 13 states: “[c]ounterclaims arising out of the same transaction or occurrence that is the subject of the action are ‘compulsory’ under Rule 13(a) and are barred by res judicata or estoppel by judgment if not asserted.”

Beach Co., 351 S.C. at 62.

The Court of Appeals' decision turns on the conclusion that Deutsche Bank's foreclosure claim was not a compulsory counterclaim required by Rule 13(a), SCRCPP, to be raised in Bailey v. Novastar, an action that sought "all relief available under S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-105(C)[.]" (R. p. 387.) That included the relief available in S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-105(C)(1), (2), and (3), which expressly provided for the non-enforcement or modified enforcement of the note and mortgage – which neither Deutsche Bank nor the Court of Appeals disputes. The Court of Appeals stated, "the question is whether a counterclaim for foreclosure in the 2013 Action [i.e., Bailey v. Novastar] would have affected Mortgagor's claims under the Attorney Preference Statute and the SCUTPA."

The Court of Appeals got the answer to that question wrong.

Whether the claim in Bailey v. Novastar for violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 39-5-10, *et seq.*, would have been affected by Deutsche Bank raising and prevailing on its foreclosure claim is not the issue before this Court, nor was it before the Court of Appeals. A successful result on their unfair trade practices act claim would have gotten Bailey and Owens only damages under S.C. Code Ann. § 39-5-140, and there is no inherent inconsistency between such a result and a judgment in favor of Deutsche Bank on a mortgage foreclosure counterclaim in that action.

If Deutsche Bank had counterclaimed for foreclosure in the 2013 action and won on the counterclaim, that would have most certainly affected the enforceability of Bailey and Owens' claim in that action for attorney preference violation coupled with unconscionability. Deutsche Bank's success on the foreclosure claim, which sought

enforcement of the note and mortgage per their written terms, would have taken some available relief under the attorney preference claim off the table entirely. See S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-105(C)(1-3). It would have been impossible in the 2013 action for a court both to enforce the note and mortgage as written (Deutsche Bank winning on the foreclosure claim) and award relief to Bailey and Owens under S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-105(C)(1), (2), or (3), all of which provided for the non-enforcement or modified enforcement of the note and mortgage if Bailey and Owens had won on their claim. The court in Bailey v. Novastar could not have both adjudged the note and mortgage unenforceable – a victory for Bailey and Owens on their claim – and adjudged it enforceable – a victory for Deutsche Bank on its foreclosure claim.

The Court of Appeals’ opinion does not square with an examination of the relief available under these two claims.

The Court of Appeals’ opinion found that “the foreclosure claim did not arise out of the same transaction or occurrence that was the subject matter of the 2013 Action.” Accordingly, the court found that the foreclosure counterclaim Deutsche Bank had and could have brought at the time it answered in the 2013 action was permissive, rather than compulsory.

The opinion decides that the 2013 action and the instant foreclosure action arose out of different occurrences, respectively, the execution of the loan documents and mortgage closing and default under the note. That decision, however, runs contrary to precedent.

The opinion contravenes Carolina First Bank v. BADD, L.L.C., itself a foreclosure action, in which this Court, citing the rule that a counterclaim is compulsory

if it has a “logical relationship” to the transaction or occurrence subject of the opposing party’s claim, held that a counterclaim is compulsory in such a debt collection action if it arises out of the execution of the documents that form the basis of the plaintiff’s claim. 414 S.C. 289, 295, 296, 778 S.E.2d 106, 109, 110 (2015). This Court in BADD emphasized that “the ‘transaction or occurrence’ for the purpose of determining the compulsory character of [the] counterclaim is the execution” of those documents. Id. at 296. Under that precedent, the transaction or occurrence giving rise to Deutsche Bank’s foreclosure claim was (or at the very least included) the execution of the loan documents and mortgage closing – the very same transaction or occurrence the Court of Appeals determined gave rise to Bailey and Owens’ claims in the 2013 action. See id. When BADD is applied to this case, Deutsche Bank’s foreclosure claim can only be reckoned as having been a compulsory counterclaim in the 2013 action. See id.

The Court of Appeals’ opinion also does not square with N.C. Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’n v. DAV Corp., 298 S.C. 514, 518, 381 S.E.2d 903, 905 (1989), a foreclosure action with counterclaims, in which this Court adopted the “logical relationship” test for determining whether a counterclaim is compulsory. The Court held that most of DAV’s counterclaims were compulsory because “there [was] a logical relationship between the enforceability of the note which [was] the subject of the foreclosure action and the validity of the purported oral agreement which, if performed, would have avoided default on the note[.]” Id. The Court made clear the reason for doing so: of the four tests considered by the Court for whether a counterclaim is compulsory, this Court settled on the “logical relationship test,” which is “by far the most widely accepted because of its flexibility.” Id.

In the DAV case, the plaintiff's claim was for foreclosure of a mortgage, and the Court's described of DAV's counterclaims as follows:

- 1) breach of a subsequent oral contract to arrange additional financing for interest payments and construction costs;
- 2) breach of the joint venture agreement as parent company of joint venturer NCF by bringing the foreclosure action;
- 3) breach of fiduciary duty to co-joint venturers;
- 4) wrongful dissolution of the joint venture by failing to voluntarily refrain from foreclosure as agreed;
- 5) violation of the Unfair Trade Practices Act by breaching the oral agreement;
- 6) breach of two subsequent oral contracts to purchase DAV's interest in the joint venture.

Id. at 517.

All but the sixth counterclaim on this list was compulsory. Id. at 518. The logical relationship that each of those counterclaims had to the plaintiff's foreclosure claim was that each counterclaim arose out of the parties' relationship that was the subject of the foreclosure claim, dealt with the manner in which the loan was administered, or both. Id.

When the precedent of DAV Corp. is applied, it also gives a positive result for whether Deutsche Bank's foreclosure claim was compulsory in the 2013 action under the logical relationship test, as the unconscionable attorney preference violation claim in the 2013 action had *more* to do with the foreclosure claim than the claim in DAV Corp. had to do with the compulsory counterclaims there. Id. at 517-19. They arose out of the same relationship and more closely so than the DAV Corp. claims, and, as

discussed above, they affect each other's enforceability at least as much, if not more than, the opposing claims in DAV Corp. did. Id. at 517-19.

Not only is the instant decision inconsistent with this Court's precedent, the Court of Appeals is also inconsistent with itself. It determined in S.C. Community Bank v. Salon Proz, LLC, 420 S.C. 89, 97, 800 S.E.2d 488, 492 (Ct. App. 2017), that a claim for violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 39-5-10, *et seq.*, was compulsory in a mortgage foreclosure action because it could affect the enforceability of the loan. There is *much* more mutual incompatibility of claims enforcement involved in this case between the 2013 action and Deutsche Bank's foreclosure claim than there was in Salon Proz, 420 S.C. at 97.

DAV Corp., BADD, and Salon Proz may be boiled down to this: there are at least two recognized ways a counterclaim may be compulsory. If a counterclaim arises out of the same set of facts as the plaintiff's claim, it is compulsory. BADD, 414 S.C. at 295, 296; DAV Corp., 298 S.C. at 518-19; Salon Proz, 420 S.C. at 97. If success on a counterclaim could affect the enforceability of the plaintiff's claim, it is compulsory. BADD, 414 S.C. at 295, 296; DAV Corp., 298 S.C. at 518-19; Salon Proz, 420 S.C. at 97. Here, the relationship between the attorney preference with unconscionability claim in the 2013 action and Deutsche Bank's foreclosure claim had both.

In addition, the Court of Appeals' opinion is unduly focused on whether declaring the note and mortgage unenforceable was specifically prayed for in the complaint in the 2013 action. Never once has any case analyzing whether a counterclaim was compulsory or permissive taken that into account. Nor is there any reason to take it into account. For one thing, the content of the prayer in a contested

case is usually unimportant to the relief available on a claim. “Except as to a party against whom a judgment is entered by default, every final judgment shall grant the relief to which the party in whose favor it is rendered is entitled, even if the party has not demanded such relief in his pleadings.” Rule 54(c), SCRC.P.

For another, at the heart of this case is whether Deutsche Bank’s foreclosure claim is barred by res judicata, which “bars a second suit where there is (1) identity of parties; (2) identity of subject matter; and (3) adjudication of the issue in the first suit.” Judy v. Judy, 393 S.C. 160, 173, 712 S.E.2d 408, 412 (2011). Res judicata bars the parties to the first case “from raising any issues which were adjudicated in the former suit *and any issues which might have been raised in the former suit*” – even if they were not pled at all, much less specifically prayed for. Id. at 414 (emphasis added, quoting Plum Creek Dev. Co. v. City of Conway, 334 S.C. 30, 34, 512 S.E.2d 106, 109 (1999)).

But, even if the specific content of the prayer in the 2013 action complaint were to matter to the analysis, Bailey and Owens specifically prayed for “all relief available under S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-105(C)[.]” (R. p. 387.) That included the relief available under S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-105(C)(1), (2), and (3), which provided for the non-enforcement or modified enforcement of the note and mortgage.

Not only has the opinion in this case contradicted precedent, it has turned a blind eye to what relief was actually sought in the 2013 action.

The court must have overlooked or misapprehended the law in reaching its conclusion in this case, and rehearing should be granted.

II. The Court of Appeals has effectively created a different compulsory/permissive analysis for foreclosure actions and other cases – essentially, a different law for banks.

The Court of Appeals' opinion states as follows:

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