**RECEIVED**

**Dec 03 2021**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court**

---

**APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
The Honorable James O. Spence, Master in Equity**

---

**Supreme Court Appellate Case No. 2021-001292  
Court of Appeals Appellate Case No. 2018-000436  
Circuit Court Case No. 2016-CP-32-03572**

---

**Deutsche Bank National Trust Company, as Trustee  
for NovaStar Mortgage Funding Trust, Series 2007-1  
NovaStar Equity Loan Asset Backed Certificates, Series 2007-1,**

**Respondent,**

**v.**

**Patricia Owens a/k/a Patricia Ann Owens; Tammy  
M. Bailey; South Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles,**

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that res judicata did not bar Deutsche Bank's underlying foreclosure action.**

Despite the complex procedural history of this case, the Court of Appeals' decision represents a routine application of SCRCP 13(a) and the distinction between permissive and compulsory counterclaims. Upon concluding that foreclosure was a permissive (but not compulsory) counterclaim in the 2013 Action, the Court of Appeals necessarily found that res judicata did not bar Deutsche Bank from bringing the underlying foreclosure action.

The Court of Appeals' decision relies upon, and is consistent with, South Carolina case law on which both parties rely. There are, therefore, no special or important circumstances warranting the exercise of this Court's discretion in this case. Bailey and Owens' contentions that the Court of Appeals' Order creates some type of foreclosure exception to Rule 13(a) – arguments they made in the Court of Appeals as well – are as exaggerated as they are erroneous.

#### **A. The framework applied by the Court of Appeals for determining whether a counterclaim is permissive or compulsory is fully consistent with controlling precedent.**

A counterclaim is compulsory under SCRCP 13(a) “if it arises out of the transaction or occurrence that is the subject matter of the opposing party's claims.” SCRCP 13(a). South Carolina applies the logical relationship test in determining whether a counterclaim is compulsory. *See N.C. Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. DAV Corp.*, 298 S.C. 514, 518, 381 S.E.2d 903, 905 (1989). This Court has held that the logical relationship determination is made by asking whether the counterclaim would affect a plaintiff's right to enforce it's claims. *See Wachovia Bank, Nat'l Ass'n v. Blackburn*, 407 S.C. 321, 330 n.7, 755 S.E.2d 437, 442 n.7 (2014) (“[T]he ‘logical relationship’ determination is made by asking whether the counterclaim would affect the lender's right to enforce the note and foreclose the mortgage.”).

Consistent with *Blackburn*, the three South Carolina cases on which both parties rely make the permissive-versus-compulsory determination by inquiring whether a *counterclaim* would affect the enforceability of *leading claims*. See, e.g., *Carolina First Bank v. BADD, L.L.C.*, 414 S.C. 289, 296, 778 S.E.2d 106, 109 (2015) (concluding in context of leading foreclosure claim: “the allegations [of a counterclaim], if true, would not render the guarantees unenforceable”); *DAV Corp.*, 298 S.C. at 519, 381 S.E.2d at 905 (deeming as permissive a counterclaim that “do[es] not affect the enforceability of the note,” in context of leading claim for foreclosure); *S.C. Cmty. Bank v. Salon Proz, LLC*, 420 S.C. 89, 97, 800 S.E.2d 488, 492 (Ct. App. 2017) (explaining in context of leading claim for foreclosure: “Were this allegation [in a counterclaim] true, it could affect the loan’s enforceability.”).

Applying these cases, the Court of Appeals correctly evaluated the permissive-versus-compulsory nature of a prospective counterclaim in the 2013 Action by determining whether it would affect the leading claims asserted by the plaintiffs in the 2013 Action. Specifically, the Court of Appeals correctly framed the issue as follows: “[T]he question is whether a counterclaim for foreclosure in the 2013 Action would have affected Mortgagors’ claims under the Attorney Preference Statute and the SCUTPA.” *Ct. App. Op.*, 863 S.E.2d at 833. This framework is fully consistent with this Court’s prior decisions in *Blackburn*, *DAV Corp.*, and *BADD* (and is fully consistent with the Court of Appeals’ reasoning in *Salon Proz*).

Bailey and Owens seem to agree with this framework. (Petition at 12 (“If success on a counterclaim could affect the enforceability of the plaintiff’s claim, it is compulsory.”)). But Petitioners then seek to broadly extend the scope of compulsory counterclaims to situations where there are merely overlapping facts between a counterclaim and the leading claims. (*Id.* at 12 (arguing that a counterclaim is also compulsory where it “arises out of the same set of facts as the

plaintiff's claim").<sup>5</sup> This overly broad contention completely ignores the above South Carolina case law in which the logical relationship determination is made by asking whether a successful counterclaim would affect the enforceability of a plaintiff's right to enforce his or her claim. Rather than focus on any common usage and meaning of the phrase "logical relationship," the Court of Appeals correctly looked to the construction given to the phrase by this Court. And in doing so, the Court of Appeals correctly declined to expand the scope of compulsory counterclaims in a manner that is inconsistent with controlling precedent. Indeed, the framework advocated for by the Petitioners – requiring only some overlap in facts – would render almost every counterclaim compulsory.

**B. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that foreclosure was not a compulsory counterclaim in the 2013 Action.**

Applying the appropriate framework, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that a counterclaim for foreclosure in the 2013 Action would not have affected Bailey and Owens' claims in the 2013 Action. Specifically, the Court of Appeals concluded that foreclosure was not a defense to Bailey and Owens' claims under the Attorney Preference Statute and the SCUTPA, and that it would not have affected Petitioners' allegations pertaining to violation of the Attorney Preference Statute. *See Ct. App. Op.*, 863 S.E.2d at 833.

---

<sup>5</sup> Petitioners purport to derive this expansive view of compulsory counterclaims from *BADD*, suggesting that *BADD* "held that a counterclaim is compulsory in such a debt collection action if it arises out of the execution of the documents that form the basis of the plaintiff's claim." (Petition at 10). But that is not what this Court held in *BADD*. In that case, a bank brought a foreclosure action against a mortgagor and a guarantor, and the guarantor asserted counterclaims for civil conspiracy and breach of contract, both based on an alleged conspiracy with a third party. *See* 414 S.C. at 291–92, 778 S.E.2d at 107. This Court found the civil conspiracy counterclaim to be permissive because "the allegations, if true, would not render the guarantees unenforceable." *Id.* at 296, 778 S.E.2d at 109. Similarly, this Court found the breach of contract counterclaim to be permissive because "it does not affect the execution or enforceability of the guaranty agreements." *Id.* at 296, 778 S.E.2d at 110.

The Court of Appeals also correctly declined to agree with Bailey and Owens' argument about the very attenuated connection between their prayer for relief in the 2013 Action, and a prospective foreclosure counterclaim. As the argument goes, Bailey and Owens contend that their request for "all relief available" under the Attorney Preference Statute (*see* R. p. 384, ¶ 37; p. 387, ¶ e) incorporated the possibility that a court might refuse to enforce the loan as a statutory remedy, thereby causing a foreclosure counterclaim to allegedly affect the enforceability of their claim. However, non-enforcement of the loan is only one of seven remedies that a trial court can, in its discretion, impose and only upon finding unconscionable conduct. This alleged connection – between a counterclaim and the enforceability of the leading claim – is, therefore, far more attenuated than that found in controlling precedent.

The customary measure of damages for violation of the Attorney Preference Statute is monetary: actual damages plus "an amount determined by the court of not less than one thousand five hundred dollars and not more than seven thousand five hundred dollars." S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-105(A). If a court determines the loan transaction was "induced by unconscionable conduct," it *may* award one of seven different categories of damages.<sup>6</sup> And only one of these seven categories of damages involves refusal to enforce the loan agreement. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-105(C)(1). In other words, *if* a trial court determined that a party's violation of the Attorney Preference Statute meant that the underlying transaction was induced by unconscionable

---

<sup>6</sup> These categories of damages include (1) refuse to enforce the agreement, *see* S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-105(C)(1); (2) refuse to enforce a term or part of the agreement, *see id.*; (3) refuse to enforce a particular transaction, *see id.*; (4) enforce only the portion of the agreement without the unconscionable term, *see id.* § 37-10-105(C)(2); (5) limit the application of the unconscionable term or part to avoid an unconscionable result, *see id.*; (6) rewrite or modify the agreement, *see id.* § 37-10-105(C)(3); or (7) award monetary damages of up to the loan finance charge, allow repayment of the unpaid balance of the loan without any finance charge, award up to twice the amount of excess loan finance charges paid to a creditor, and award attorneys' fees and costs, *see id.* § 37-10-10(C)(4).

conduct, and *if* the trial court decided to exercise its discretion to impose damages, and *if* the trial court elected one of seven different types of remedies to impose (to the exclusion of all others), then a foreclosure action brought by Deutsche Bank as a counterclaim would affect the *remedy*.

However, the foreclosure claim – even assuming a trial court made each of every one of the above decisions – would not affect a trial court’s ability to find Deutsche Bank liable for violation of the Attorney Preference, it would not prevent the trial court from finding the loan transaction to be induced by unconscionable conduct, and it would not prevent the trial court from awarding damages and imposing other remedies. In other words, even in the perfect set of circumstances from Bailey and Owens’ standpoint, they could still pursue, enforce, and be awarded damages for violation of the Attorney Preference Statute, despite a successful foreclosure counterclaim.

This alleged “connection” Bailey and Owens have attempted to craft is substantively dissimilar from that found in *DAV Corp.* (and in the Court of Appeals’ *Salon Proz* decision) where counterclaims premised on oral promises to modify loan terms would *necessarily* undermine and negate leading claims for foreclosure. *See DAV Corp.*, 298 S.C. at 518, 381 S.E.2d at 905 (“Clearly, there is a logical relationship between the enforceability of the note which is the subject of the foreclosure action and the validity of the purported oral agreement which, if performed, would have avoided default on the note by the joint venture.”); *Salon Proz*, 420 S.C. at 97, 800 S.E.2d at 492 (noting counterclaim alleging that lender “reneg[ed] upon promises to modify or otherwise restructure loans” (internal quotation marks omitted)). Here, by contrast, a foreclosure counterclaim would, by no means, negate or undermine Bailey and Owens’ claim under the Attorney Preference Statute. At most, it would affect one possible remedy option, subject to a trial court’s discretion in any event, and contingent on a finding of unconscionability. No controlling

precedent holds that a general and generic reference in a complaint to “all relief available” under a statute, which contains one damage remedy that might be affected by foreclosure, is sufficient to satisfy SCRCP 13(a)’s logical relationship test.<sup>7</sup>

**C. The Court of Appeals’ decision does not create a foreclosure exception to Rule 13(a).**

Finally, Petitioners contend that the Court of Appeals’ decision creates an alleged foreclosure exception to the permissive-versus-compulsory distinction under Rule 13. (*See* Petition at 14–15). However, Petitioners’ use of exaggerated language does not make it so, and their arguments are a product of their misinformed understanding of controlling jurisprudence.

Specifically, Petitioners take issue with the following statement from the Court of Appeals’ opinion:

We acknowledge *DAV Corp.*; *BADD, L.L.C.*; and *Salon Proz, LLC* all held that a claim is compulsory in a foreclosure action when, if the allegation were true, it could affect the enforceability of the loan. However, this case differs from the foregoing cases because here the prior action was not a foreclosure action.

*Ct. App. Op.*, 863 S.E.2d at 833 (internal footnote omitted). But, everything about the foregoing statement is accurate. It is true that the leading claim in *DAV Corp.*, *BADD, L.L.C.*, and *Salon Proz* was a foreclosure claim. It is also true that the leading claim in the 2013 Action was *not* a foreclosure claim. Rather, Bailey and Owens brought claims against Deutsche Bank for violation of the Attorney Preference Statute and the SCUTPA. Given that “the prior action was not a foreclosure action,” the Court of Appeals correctly considered “whether a counterclaim for foreclosure in the 2013 Action would have affected Mortgagors’ claims under the Attorney Preference Statute and the SCUTPA.” *Ct. App. Op.*, 863 S.E.2d at 833. This is not a “double

---

<sup>7</sup> Petitioners complain that the Court of Appeals was “unduly focused” on their prayer for relief in the 2013 Action (Petition at 12), but the Court of Appeals was forced to address this issue because it was – and continues to be – one of Petitioners leading arguments on appeal.

standard.” (Petition at 7). Rather, it is a straightforward application of the cases on which both parties rely.

Bailey and Owens’ contention that the Court of Appeals should have instead considered whether their leading claims in the 2013 Action would have affected a prospective foreclosure action (*see* Petition at 14), is inconsistent with controlling precedent. By contending that “[t]he compulsory counterclaim principle runs . . . with equal force in both directions” (Petition at 14), Bailey and Owens are taking the position that the posture of a particular claim – be it a leading claim or a counterclaim – is irrelevant to the determination of whether a counterclaim is permissive or compulsory. But that contention is inconsistent with controlling precedent discussed in *supra* Section I(A), which concerns itself with whether a counterclaim would affect a leading claim, and not the other way around. Bailey and Owens’ erroneous argument appears to be predicated on their overly expansive view of the logical relationship test, which would have the effect of making almost every counterclaim a compulsory counterclaim based on mere overlapping facts. Indeed, if the Court of Appeals had done what Bailey and Owens insist it should have done – consider whether a *leading claim* would have affected the enforceability of a *prospective counterclaim* – it would have been without the support of controlling precedent and in error.

**II. The Court of Appeals correctly declined to address the parties’ competing arguments regarding S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-310 and satisfaction of the Mortgage.**